1966

Marion E. Tibbits and Rose Wheelwright Tibbits v.
Rhuel O. Openshaw and Darlene O. Openshaw :
Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendants and appellants on or about the 31st day of July, 1962, entered into a Uniform Real Estate Contract wherein they agreed to purchase for the sum of \$45,000, two houses on Lot 7 and 8 in the plaintiffs' and respondents' Rainbow Sub-division, Riverdale City, Utah, and a vacant piece of property directly behind the two houses, consisting of two acres. The two houses are called throughout the trial the "white house" and the "brown house". The defendants and appellants lived in the white house and rented the brown house.

The uniform real estate contract provided that a deed to lot 7 would be given after the December 1, 1962 payment, a deed to lot 8 after the April 1, 1963, payment, and a deed to the balance of the property when the final payment was made.

Defendants and appellants refused to make the final payment, of approximately \$3,888.65, which represented the balance due on the vacant property. Plaintiffs and respondents, then brought suit claiming breach of contract and sought to foreclose their mortgage upon all three parcels claiming said real estate contract was not divisible. Defendants and appellants defended on the grounds that the plaintiffs and respondents had fraudulently misrepresented the vacant property as being suitable for sub-dividing and could be sold as separate lots for building purpose, when in fact it was "land locked" and did not have access to a dedicated street, except for a narrow 20' strip of land.

Defendants further claimed that the plaintiffs and respondents had fraudulently misrepresented the houses to have been completely insulated and misrepresented the roofs of the houses to have been 20 year roofs.

Defendants and appellants counterclaimed against the plaintiffs and respondents for breach of the following implied warranties:

- A. That the plaintiff and respondents as builders-vendors impliedly warranted that the houses were constructed in a good and workmanlike manner and reasonably fit for occupancy as a place of abode, and that suitable and proper materials were used therein.
- B. That the plaintiffs and respondents as builders-vendors impliedly warranted that the houses constructed by them were constructed in accordance with the building code of the area in which the structure is located.

DISPOSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT

The case was tried in the District Court of Weber County. The burden of going forward with the evidence was placed on the defendants and appellants, since they had acknowledged that the Uniform Real Estate Contract had been signed by them, and that a balance was due thereunder.

Following the presentation of the defendants and appellants case the trial court granted plaintiffs' and respondents' motion to dismiss defendants' and appellants' defense and appeal based upon breach of implied warranties. The trial court permitted the defense of fraud to stand and to go to the jury. The jury found the issues in favor of the plaintiffs and respondents, and awarded judgment for the sum of \$4,379.32, interest for \$272.25, \$867.91 attorney's fees, and court costs for \$19.60.

The trial court refused to grant defendants' and appellants' requested jury instruction that the plaintiffs and respondents were liable for breach of implied warranties.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

A BUILDER-VENDOR IMPLIEDLY WARRANTS TO A PURCHASER OF A NEW HOUSE THAT THE MATERIALS USED THEREIN ARE REASONABLE AND SUITABLE; THAT THE HOME WAS BUILT IN A WORKMANLIKE MANNER AND SUITABLE FOR HABITATION; AND THAT THE BUILDER-VENDOR HAS COMPLIED WITH THE BUILDING CODE OF THE AREA IN WHICH THE STRUCTURE IS LOCATED.

The facts show that the plaintiffs and respondents were not licensed contractors, that they had not made application for a contractor's license nor had they taken any examinations normally given to a contractor. Testimony by Mr. Tibbitts on cross examination.

Q. Are you a licensed building contractor Mr. Tibbitts?

A. No. (R123)

Q. But you at no time made application for a contractor's license?

A. No.

Q. Did you take any examinations as a contractor?

A. No.

Q. Have you had any schooling as a contractor?

A. No, I don't think so. I have had, I have worked with contractors and done all cement work and carpenter work, took it in high school classes. (R124)

The facts show that a building permit had been taken out for both houses in the name of Lawrence Lutz as con-

tractor, Mr. Lutz testified he was not the contractor and knew nothing about the building permits and did not give Mr. Tibbitts authority to use his name as contractor. (See Def. exhibit 5 & 6)

Testimony of Mr. Lutz, carpenter, by Mr. Hansen, on direct examination:

- Q. Mr. Lutz I show you a building permit, application made to Riverdale City, for Lot 7, the application permit lists your name as the contractor, Lawrence Contractor, 325 Chimes View Drive, Ogden, Utah. Were you the contractor for Lot No. 7.
- A. No sir.
- Q. Did you authorize Mr. Tibbitts to take this permit out in your name as a contractor?
- A. No sir.
- Q. Did you sign this permit?
- A. No sir.
- Q. I show you the writing on that permit and ask you to identify that. Is that your handwriting?
- A. No sir.
- Q. To your knowledge have you ever indicated your approval to Mr. Tibbitts as a contractor for this lot.
- A. No sir.
- Q. When did you first become aware that your name was listed as the contractor for Lot No. 7.
- A. Right now.
- Q. Mr. Lutz I show you an application for a building permit regarding Lot No. 8, and ask you again if your name is listed as the contractor, Lawrence

Lutz, 325 Chimes View Drive. Did you make this application?

A. No sir.

Q. Did you authorize anyone to make the application in your name?

A. No sir.

Q. Did you authorize Mr. Tibbitts to make it in your name?

A. No sir. (R15, R16)

Mr. Tibbitts testified as follows on cross examination by Mr. Hansen:

Q. Who went into the office. Did you go in and make application for the permits?

A. I took them in but I don't remember of making them out in there. I know I didn't make this out.

Q. But you took them in. Is that correct?

A. I think I did.

Q. You had forms and took them in, were they blank forms when you took them in?

A. They gave me the forms.

Q. Did you fill in the name of Lawrence Lutz as contractor?

A. No.

Q. Did you tell them he was the contractor?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Did you have permission from Mr. Lutz to make application for a building permit?

A. No. Mr. Lutz told me he would do all the carpenter work on the houses. (R124, 125)

The facts further show that it is extremely questionable whether any inspections were made on the houses as they were constructed. The building permit for both lots do not show that any inspections were made by Riverdale City. (See Defendants exhibit 5 and 6). Mr. Lutz, the carpenter, testified as follows on direct examination by Mr. Hansen:

Q. What experience, if any, can you recall regarding the inspections made on the electrical work, the electrical wiring?

A. Well, I don't recall any inspections ever being made, that I know of.

Q. Can you recall anything that Mr. Tibbitts said regarding the electrical inspections?

A. Well, I know at times that he made his own inspections.

Q. How do you know that he made his own inspections?

A. Well, he told me that he did.

Q. What did he say?

A. *Well, he said I called in my inspections. I don't wait for the inspectors to come.*

Q. *Did he laugh when he said?*

A. *Right.* (Emphasis Added) (R19)

Mr. Lutz's testimony on re-cross by Mr. Handy:

Q. That is what you used?

A. One by eight, either one by eight or plywood meets the building code.

Q. But this wasn't turned down by the inspector, was it?

A. *We had no inspectors.*

Q. *You had no inspectors?*

- A. *No.* (Emphasis Added)
- Q. Do you know whether or not you had to have an inspector at that time?
- A. Well, I figured there should be. On all the other buildings I have always had building inspectors around. (R37)

TESTIMONY AND FACTS CONCERNING THE QUALITY OF THE LUMBER USED IN THE HOUSES.

The testimony clearly establish that the lumber used in the houses was green, poor quality, sub-standard lumber, and that as a result of the lumber, the walls twisted and curved like a "snake" and the beams cracked, bowed, and warped as they dried.

The testimony of Mr. Lutz, the carpenter follows:
(Direct examination by Mr. Hansen)

- Q. Are you a licensed contractor?
- A. Yes sir. (R16)
- Q. You did the carpentry work.
- A. I done the carpentry work, that is all.
- Q. What lumber was supplied by Mr. Tibbitts.
- (Objection) Mr. Handy

THE COURT: Answer the question. What type of lumber.

- A. It was mostly utility and construction. It was all brought in here from Montana by the truck load.
- Q. How would you classify the lumber, Mr. Lutz, as an experienced carpenter?
- A. *Well, any building code wouldn't accept it.*
(Emphasis Added) (R17)

On cross examination Mr. Lutz testified:

Q. (By Mr. Handy) What do you mean by standard or better?

A. Well, that means a better grade of lumber, free from knots and it has got strength to it. You figure the stress and the strength of your lumber for different things like joists and studdings and things like that that should be west coast fir in all houses, that is required.

Q. This lumber that was used here, this was satisfactory as far as you were concerned?

A. Well, no, it wasn't as far as I am concerned. If I had been contracting it myself, I wouldn't have put that lumber in. (R25)

Q. *But you say this type of lumber has been used by you in other construction work and it has worked out satisfactory?*

A. *Not in homes.*

Q. *What kind of construction?*

A. *It is good for barns and things like that.* (R26)
(Emphasis Added)

Testimony of Harvey Hill, a licensed contractor, who testified that he had constructed over 200 houses: Direct examination by Mr. Hansen.

Q. Now in the event that you have green lumber used in framing what results from that?

A. Well, your lumber will *warp* pretty bad if it is *quite green*.

Q. Does it warp immediately, or does it take a period

of time?

A. It takes a while. It takes a while for it to dry out.
(R63)

Q. What about the strength of green lumber. Can you describe what the strength would be?

A. It is your utility grade, usually your utility grade has more knots in it and doesn't have the strength in that that you have in the better grade without so many knots. That is what takes the strength out of it, the straightness of it.

Q. What happens when green lumber is placed in a building? What is the result?

A. *It will warp or sag or twist or bend. It will bend out of shape.*

Q. In your opinion, as you observed it, please describe the appearance of the carport as you observed it to be.

A. The face board on the outside was a 2 x 8 it looked like, and it was *warped, twisted* quite a bit in several places and in several places it was *split*. The beams supporting it were *twisted* and also *sagging* quite a bit, I didn't check the span to know whether the span was greater than it should be or not, but it was right up to a maximum at least.

Q. Did you have occasion to examine the siding on the brown house?

A. Yes.

Q. And what was your observation?

A. They have used a rough sawn lumber which is used quite often, but is apparently quite *green* because

it was *warped* and *cracked* quite a bit. At least *split* open. (R64)

Q. And also the exterior deck, on the white and the brown houses, did you examine those?

A. Yes.

Q. And what did your examination show there?

A. For the deck, they had used, it looked like a *utility grade*, 2 x 6 flooring and it was *split* and *warped* a bit, and there is one place in particular where the flooring *hadn't reached the next joist*. It was loose. It had *4 x 4 posts supporting it that were twisted quite a bit*.

Q. And what did you observe at that time?

A. These walls.

MR. HANDY: I object to this, this is two and a half years, three years after the purchase of this home, practically.

THE COURT: This is a circumstance the jury may consider. They decide what weight to give the testimony, if any, in view of the circumstances. (R59)

A. *The lumber used for studs in this bearing partition wall or all of the walls that I examined have warped quite severely. You can look down the wall and see quite a lot of bends.* (R60)

Q. What can you do with a broom handle pressed against the ceiling?

A. Well, you could push it up and down, it was loose. There was no support on it at all. (R60)

Q. Mr. Hill, did you have, while examining the house,

an occasion to notice the condition of the eaves around the house, or the facing board?

A. I noticed the face board. I didn't notice underneath the eaves. The face board *was warped*, most of it that I looked at *was warped*.

Q. Did you estimate the amount of the *warpage* on any of the corners?

A. Of I would say the joint was opened up an *inch and a half or two inches* on the corners. (R67)

(Emphasis Added)

The testimony of Mr. Tibbitts regarding the lumber used in these houses and others that he constructed follows:

Mr. Hansen, cross examination:

Q. You say the first house you built out of the eight was built with used lumber?

A. The first house, yes.

Q. Where did you get the used lumber?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Was this good lumber or what quality was it?

A. Well, we got as I remember most of it from Second Street. I bought *a barracks down at Second Street*, one of these barracks that they had there, war barracks down there and move it, had it moved out there and it had both ends out of it, *and we had an east wind and it blew the barracks flat the first night it set there*. I went out the next morning and it was blown flat. We tore it to pieces. *That is where the lumber came from*. (R125)

Q. Was it kiln dried?

A. No, they don't kiln dry any construction lumber or

fir lumber in the State of Montana, that I know of, and they have some awful big mills in Montana. It doesn't pay to kiln dry lumber because it chips it. It makes it worse and when lumber is nailed into a house and nailed in there properly it doesn't have to be perfectly dry. This lumber, no lumber is perfectly dry that is put into a house by a long ways.

(R127)

Q. What would cause beams like that *to sag*?

A. Well, the only thing I could say that they were *too long a stress* for the material, *they weren't heavy enough beams*.

(R128)

Mr. Handy, on direct examination of Mr. Tibbitts:

Q. And the other you used the same type of utility lumber. Is that correct?

A. Well, it was the same kind of lumber, *it was from Montana, and we had it cut down except a little that I cut myself*. (Emphasis Added) (113)

Testimony of Mr. Rhuel Openshaw regarding the condition of the walls when the houses were first purchased and at the time of the trial:

Direct examination by Mr. Hansen

Q. Now as to the walls, then you found them to be quite straight and regular?

A. That is right. Immediately after the purchase.

Q. Now would you describe the condition of those walls as they exist today.

A. Putting a straight edge across them, you will find bulges in the walls now of at least one inch. (R40)

Q. Thank you, Your Honor. I apologize. In connection

with the walls of the brown house, will you please describe the appearance of those walls immediately after the purchase.

A. They were similar to the walls in the white house, however they were of slightly different construction, *but they appeared apparently straight at the time of purchase.*

Q. Will you describe the appearance today as you observed them to be.

A. They are in about the same condition as those in the white house. *They have bows in and out and they are noticeable without straight edging.* (R40)

The testimony of the sub-standard construction and use of inferior quality materials throughout the house continues on and on and on. Reference will be made to specific testimony to substantial other areas testified to during the trial, but on a more limited basis in order to shorten the length of this brief.

FURNACE

No claim is made that the furnace was not properly installed by the heating sub-contractor, but the testimony is unrefuted that plaintiffs and respondents because of their inexperience constructed walls around the furnace after installation. This condition was extremely dangerous and caused the gas company to close the gas off until it was remedied.

Testimony of Mrs. Openshaw (Direct examination, by Mr. Hansen)

Q. Did you do anything to remedy the situation in order to have the gas turned back on?

A. *We had our son, in fact one of the houses we tore*

a whole section because we were told we didn't have enough air.

Q. Did you do that in both houses?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Was the gas turned back on after you did that?

A. Yes sir. (R76)

Testimony of Harvey Hill, licensed contractor, (Direct examination by Paul Hansen)

Q. What happens if the furnace does not have ventilation. Is there any danger, what is the effect?

A. Yes, it is dangerous. Usually the gas company won't hook it up, if you don't have it ventilated. It has to have ventilation or the flame will go out and the gas still be on. *It is dangerous.*

Q. Then what would be the result without adequate ventilation?

A. If the flame went out, you would have gas come into your room at least until the safety valve when the furnace took over, you would have gas coming into the room, and it could get enough to *explode.*

(Emphasis Added) (R66)

ELECTRICAL WORK

Testimony of Mr. Lutz, carpenter, Direct examination by Paul M. Hansen.

Q. During the time that you worked on the houses, did have an occasion to observe who put the electrical work in the houses?

A. Well, he done most of the work because he was doing all of it. (R18)

Q. Mr. Tibbitts was doing the electrical work?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Can you recall anything that Mr. Tibbitts said regarding the electrical inspections?

A. Well, I know at times that he made his own inspections.

Q. How do you know that he made his own inspections?

A. Well, he told me that he did.

Q. What did he say?

A. Well, he said I called in my inspections. I don't wait for the inspectors to come. (R19)

Q. Are you familiar with the grounds of the electrical boxes in the kitchens and bathrooms?

A. Well, I remember when they came out to hook the power up, they rejected it, said he would have to have it grounded before they would hook it up, and he grounded it himself. I know in one house in particular, I don't know which one it was. Then he called in and they came out and hooked it up.

Q. Who called in?

A. Mr. Tibbitts. (R32)

PAINTING

Testimony of Mr. Lutz, carpenter, Direct examination by Paul Hansen.

Q. What do you mean by oil and color?

A. Well, he mixed color in oil and finished the woodwork, most of the woodwork.

Q. What type of color was used.

A. Well, it was brick coloring put in with oil.

Q. You mean cement coloring?

A. Cement coloring and brick coloring. (R21)

Cross examination of Mr. Lutz.

Q. Now, what do you mean by oil and color?

A. Well, linseed oil with color mixed in it to bring out a color on it. He experimented a lot on bringing out colors and especially on paneling and things like that. He experimented quite a lot on bringing out colors.

ROOFS

The testimony is uncontradicted that approximately one year after occupancy the roof's leaked and have leaked continually since that time. The testimony is also uncontradicted that neither houses have gravel to protect the tar from the hot summer sun. One house does was painted with aluminum paint as a poor substitute.

Testimony of Mr. Openshaw, Direct examination by Paul M. Hansen.

Q. When did these first start?

A. Approximately one year after purchase.

Q. Did you try to do anything about the leaks?

A. The first leak I was away at Seattle when it occurred. My wife contacted Mr. Tibbitts who came over and he made an attempt to patch it.

Q. Did you have any difficulty after that?

A. Yes.

Q. How soon after.

A. Almost every rain storm since I have been up patching leaks.

Q. That is, Mr. Openshaw, has been over patching leaks.

A. You mean Mr. Tibbits.

Q. Mr. Tibbits. Pardon me. (R43)

A. He *has never come over* to patch a leak after that first attempt that I know of.

Q. Are these leaks located in anyone particular room or location of the roof?

A. No sir.

Q. Where are they located?

A. All over the roof.

Q. Does the roof have gravel on it?

A. No sir. (R44)

Q. Does the brown house have gravel on the roof?

A. No sir. (R45)

Testimony of Mr. Harvey Hill, contractor, that gravel and mopping is necessary to keep a roof from checking and drying out. (Direct examination by Paul Hansen)

Q. Then on top of the five layers of felt, what would you have?

A. Then it should have been mopped and gravel put on to *keep it from checking and drying out.* (R63)

AUTHORITIES

There are numerous authorities including Prosser and Williston who have advocated the extension of implied warranties to include the sale of real estate.

Directly in point also are several recent cases from the Supreme Courts of Colorado, Washington, Oklahoma, Illinois, and others. These cases have imposed upon a builder vendor

of new houses an implied warranty that the houses were reasonably constructed with reasonable workmanship and materials, and that the houses were constructed in accordance with the building code where they were located. Reference will be made to each case with citations therefrom.

The Supreme Court of Colorado, January 20, 1964, in *Carpenter vs. Donohoe*, 388 P2nd 399, at page 402:

“In 1931 a departure from the rule of caveat emptor in the purchase of a house was announced by a dictum in the case of *Miller v. Cannon Hill Extates, Ltd.*, (1931) 2 K.B. 113. It was said in that case that warranties would be implied in a house, purchased in the course of construction, that it was built in an efficient and workmanlike manner and of proper materials and when finished would be fit for habitation.

A number of states have followed the Miller doctrine. See citations in *Glisan v. Smolenske*, supra. Indeed, this court in the *Glisan* case applied the implied warranty doctrine to a house which was nearly completed, aligning its views with *Perry v. Sharon Dev. Co., Ltd.*, supra.

We hold that the implied warranty doctrine is extended to include agreements between builders-vendors and purchasers for the sale of newly constructed buildings, completed at the time of contracting. There is an implied warranty that builder-vendors have complied with the building code of the area in which the structure is located. Where, as here, a home is the subject of sale, there are implied warranties that the home was built in workmanlike manner and is suitable for habitation.

(Emphasis Added)

The judgment is reversed with directions to reinstate the second count of the amended complaint and to proceed thereafter in manner consonant with the views herein expressed.”

In that case, see page 400, the Donohoes were compelled by the trial court to elect at the conclusion of the evidence whether they *relied on fraud or warranties*, the Donohoes chose the former. In this case the defendants and appellants were required to base their defense on fraud, the trial court having dismissing the defense and counter claim based on implied warranties.

The Supreme Court of Oklahoma, April 16, 1963, in *Jones v. Gatewood*, 381 P.2d 158, stated in a similar case the following: (page 159, 160)

“Plaintiffs brought an action for damages against defendants on the theory of breach of two implied warranties, one the warranty of fitness and the other warranty that the house was constructed in a good and workmanlike manner.

In *Hoye v. Century Builders, Inc.*, 52 Wash.2d 830, 329 P.2d 474, wherein Hoye agreed to purchase a lot from Century Builders and the latter agreed to construct a house thereon, the Supreme Court of Washington held that under the circumstances there was an implied warranty the completed house would be fit for human habitation and that the uniform current of decisional law was in accord. The court then said:

“* * * The reason is nowhere better explained than by the King’s Bench division in *Miller v. Cannon Hill Estates, Ltd.* (1931), 2 K.B. 113 in the following passage from the opinion in that case:

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