1966

Marion E. Tibbits and Rose Wheelwright Tibbits v. Rhuel O. Openshaw and Darlene O. Openshaw : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THERE WERE NO IMPLIED WARRANTIES IN REGARD TO THE HOUSES; THE HOUSES WERE BUILT IN A WORKMANLIKE MANNER AND SUITABLE FOR HABITATION; THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE BUILDER-VENDOR DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE BUILDING CODE OF THE AREA IN WHICH THE STRUCTURES ARE LOCATED.

It is strongly urged by the defendants-appellants that there was a breach of warranty on the part of the plaintiffs-respondents in the construction of the homes and the sale of the real estate. The Court's attention is called to paragraph 20 of the Uniform Real Estate Contract entered into between the parties and which is identified as plaintiffs' Exhibit A, which reads as follows: "It is hereby expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto that the buyer accepts the said property in its present condition and that there are no representations, covenants or agreements between the parties hereto with reference to said property, except as herein specifically set forth or attached hereto."

The ruling of the Court is correct as is shown in *Jensen's Used Cars vs. Rice* (Utah) 7 Ut. 276, 323 P. 259, 260.

"Elementary it is that in construing contracts we seek to determine the intention of the parties, but it is also elementary and of extreme practical importance that we hold contracting parties to their clear and understandable language deliberately committed in writing and endorsed by them as signatories thereto. Were this not so, business, one with another, among our citizens would be relegated to the chaotic and the basic purpose of the law to supply enforceable rules of conduct for the maintenance and improvement of an orderly society, welfare and progress would find itself impotent. It is not unreasonable to hold one responsible for language for which he himself espouses. Such language is the only implement he gives us to fashion a determination as to the intentions of the parties. Under such circumstances we should not be required to embosom any request that we ignore that very language. This is as it should be. *The rule excluding matters outside the four corners of a clear and understandable document is a fair one and one's contentions concerning his intent should extend no further than his own clear expression.*

"It is urged correctly that to admit matters outside a contract would do violence with the principles that one is bound by his manifestations of assent and that irrespective of such contentions such matters properly are excludable by

the parole evidence rule, which rule counsel suggests is one of substantive law rather than one of evidence. Whatever kind one calls it, the rule that excludes such evidence is a common-sense rule."

In the case of *Steiber vs. Palumbo* 347 P. 2d 978 (Ore.), the defendant sold a *completed home* to the plaintiff. Plaintiff claimed a breach of warranty because of lack of proper footings under the house. In the consummation of the transaction only three papers were employed, an earnest money receipt, a deed and a mortgage. None of the three papers contained any warranty of the quality of the house or the character of the soil under it. The Court affirmed the lower Court which had previously stated: "There is no such thing as an implied warranty in connection with the sale of real estate". And the Supreme Court stated: "No decision has come to our attention which permitted recovery by the vendee of housing upon a theory of implied warranty". In doing so, they cited *Williston on Contracts*, Revised Edition, Section 926: "One who contracts to buy real estate may indeed refuse to complete the transaction if the vendor's title is bad, but one who accepts a deed generally has no remedy for defective title, except such as the covenants in his deed may give him. Therefore, if there are no covenants he has no redress, though he gets no title. Still more clearly, there can be no warranty of quality or condition implied in the sale of real estate.

"It is generally true also that any express agreements in regard to land contained in a contract to sell it are merged in the deed if the purchaser accepts a conveyance."

Further quoting from *Levy vs. C. Young Construction Co.*, 1958 26 N.J. 300, 139 Atlantic 2d, 738:

"Absent any covenant binding defendant to sell a well constructed house, plaintiffs cannot sue upon an implied warranty * * * *

"As defendant notes, the policy reasons underlying the rule that the acceptance of a deed without covenants as to construction is the cut-off point so far as the vendor's liability is concerned are rather obvious. Were plaintiffs successful under the facts presented to us, an element of uncertainty would pervade the entire field. Real estate transactions would become chaotic if vendors were subjected to liability after they had parted with the ownership and control of the premises. They could never be certain as to the limits or termination of their liability. The rule which we impose in the circumstances of the present action works no harshness on purchasers of real estate. Plaintiffs had an opportunity to protect themselves by extracting warranties or guaranties from the defendant in the contract of sale and by reserving them in the deed * * *."

In *Harmon National Real Estate Corporation vs. Eagan* 241 N.Y. Supplement 708, 709, suit was brought by a mortgagee and the defendant mortgagor counter-claimed on the ground "That at the time the house was sold to the defendant the plaintiff well knew that the same was uninhabitable." The Court said:

"For after the contract of sale has been executed and the conveyance accepted, the Grantee must rely solely on the covenants in his deed. If his deed contains no covenants he is without a remedy, either for eviction or encumbrance. Upon the sale of real property, the rule caveat emptor applies * * * no implied covenant arises from a conveyance of real property."

In the case of *Kerr vs. Parsons*, 1948, 83 Ohio App. 204, 82 N.E. Second 303, 305, the action was based upon the plaintiff's purchase of a second-hand house; after purchase he brought an action for damages against the Seller on the ground that the latter had falsely represented that a well on the premises would supply enough water for household uses. A verdict and judgment for the defendant were reversed because of prejudicial instructions. Inter

alia it was noted that the trial court had charged as to warranty. In reversing the appellate Court said:

"Ordinarily there is no implied warranty as to the condition of real estate sold or leased and oral evidence of a warranty would not be admissible to add to a deed or lease."

In the case of *Berger vs. Burkoff* 1952, 200 Maryland 561, 92 At. 2d, 376, 378, the action was based on the claim that the basement in a new home was improperly waterproofed. It was the contention of the appellants that there was an implied warranty not expressed to furnish a structurally satisfactory house. The Court held there were no implied warranties in the sale of real estate. To the same effect, see the New York case of *Dolezel vs. Fialkoff*, 2 At. 2d 642, 151 N.Y. Sup. Second 734.

Although Oregon has a statute stating specifically that there are no implied warranties, the Oregon case previously cited of *Steiber vs. Palumbo* concluded as follows: "It will be noticed from the foregoing that even apart from legislations such as O.R.S. 93.140, the law refuses to imply in favor of the purchaser of an existing house warranties as to quality. As to purchasers of that kind, the rule of caveat emptor applies and he must reduce his purported warranties to written contractual form if he expects to base an action upon them."

For further citations in regard to this proposition, see 78 A.L.R., 2, 446.

Defendants-appellants cite three main cases in support of their theory. In *Carpenter vs. Donohoe* 338 P. 2d 399 (Colo.) and *Jones vs. Gatewood* 381 P 2d 158 (Okla.), both cases deal with "hazardous" condition or conditions that make the houses not fit for habitation. The Carpenter case dealt with walls caving in that made living in the house hazardous and the Jones case concerned itself with water seeping through the concrete slab

that made the house unlivable. These cases are therefore distinguishable from the case at bar for the reason that the houses have been occupied continuously since possession by defendants either by defendants themselves or by others who pay well for the privilege.

The third case relied upon, *Schipper vs. Leavitt & Sons, Inc.*, 207 A. 2 314 is a purely tort case and has no application to the case at bar.

It is difficult to see how it can seriously be contended that the houses were not suitable for habitation inasmuch as the upstairs of the white house was rented for \$150.00 per month and the brown house for a total of \$255.00 (T. 48) and at the present time the defendants-appellants are residing in the white house (T. 38).

In regard to the workmanship on the homes and the quality of lumber used therein, Mr. Lutz, defendants' witness, stated that the carpentry work was satisfactory, (T. 24) and that the lumber was strong enough, (T. 36). Harvey Hill, defendants' witness, stated that the lumber used was satisfactory if the spanning was proper, (T. 63) but that he did not know whether or not the requirements for proper spanning had been complied with (T. 69). There was other evidence from another licensed contractor that the materials that went into the houses made for good construction (T. 162).

Concerning the furnace, there was absolutely no testimony as to whether or not the furnace was ventilated properly, but there was testimony that the furnace was installed by a licensed heating contractor (T. 27,117).

The electrical work was done by a licensed electrical contractor and not by the plaintiffs-respondents (T. 117).

Plaintiffs-respondents deny that there was any express warranty that the roofs were "20 year roofs" (T. 116) and defendants-appellants' witness, Harvey Hill, stated that he did not know for a fact that the roofs were not what are called "20 year roofs" (T. 68).

Although there was testimony that the houses were at least partially insulated plaintiffs-respondents deny that there was any representation whatsoever made as to whether or not the houses were fully insulated (T. 116).

The construction loan was obtained through State Savings & Loan Company of Salt Lake City and several inspections were made by representatives of State Savings & Loan Company prior to releasing the construction money (T. 149).

Although defendants-appellants, over objection, introduced zoning ordinances, building codes and electrical codes, there was no evidence whatsoever that the structures in question did not comply with the zoning ordinance, the building codes or electrical codes.

POINT 2. DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS SHOULD BE BOUND BY THE CONTRACT THAT THEY EXECUTED.

Defendants-appellants' point 2 would appear to be beyond argument inasmuch as there is ample evidence from defendants' witnesses as well as plaintiffs' that if there were in fact any implied warranties, that they were not breached. There seems to be more than ample evidence to support the jury's verdict.

In raising the point, defendants-appellants presume that the only reason that they did not prevail was because of the paragraph 20 in the Uniform Contract which stated that there were no warranties either express or implied—this is not so—defendants-appellants did not prevail because they failed to convince the jury, either from evidence or a careful view and inspection of the prem-

ises that the houses were poorly constructed, of defective materials, or were not fit for human habitation.

However, it is the established law in this state that contracting parties, not acting under disabilities shall be bound by the terms of their contracts.

Jensen's Used Cars vs. Rice, 7 Ut. 2 276, 323 P. 2d 259.

In addition to the express provisions of the contract, defendants-appellants obtained deeds of Warranty which contained no covenants or restrictions. This was the second chance defendants-appellants had to protect themselves if they were concerned, which they were not. After the deed was accepted, defendants-appellants could rely only on the covenants in the deed and there were none in regard to the items of which they complain. See *Harmon National Real Estate Corp. vs. Egan* 241 N.Y. Sup. 708, 709. *Steiber vs. Palumbo*, *Supra.*, *Levy vs. C. Young Const. Co.*, *Supra.*

It wasn't until three years later, after suit was instituted for final payment or return of the deed that the alleged defects were brought to light. Defendants-appellants are guilty of laches if there is any merit to their complaints. Section 60-3-9, Utah Code Ann. 1953 provides as follows:

"But if, after acceptance of the goods, the buyer fails to give notice to the seller of the breach of any promise or warranty *within a reasonable time after the buyer knows, or ought to know*, of such breach, the seller shall not be liable therefor."

Inasmuch as there were no warranties contained in the Uniform Real Estate Contract, plaintiffs-respondents' Exhibit A, nor were there any reservations contained in the Deed issued pursuant to said contract, plaintiffs-appellants' Exhibits B and C, there were no warranties implied or expressed, therefore they could not be breached and the defendants-appellants have given no reason why they should not be held to their contract. *Jensen's Used Cars vs.*

Rice 7 Ut. 2d, 276, 323 P. 2d, 259, 260; *Harmon National Real Estate Corporation vs. Eagan*, 241 N.Y. Sup. 708, 709, *Levy vs. C. Young Const. Co.*, Supa.

CONCLUSION

The evidence shows that the houses were well constructed with good materials and good workmanship; that they were fit for habitation; that there were no warranties expressed or implied and no breaches thereof and that defendants-appellants should be held to their contract and the verdict of the jury affirmed by this Court.